RECEIVED

May 16 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001178
Case No. 2018-CP-23-04740

Flatiron-Zachry, a Joint Venture,

Appellant,

v.

Civil Engineering Consulting Services, Inc. c/b/a Civil
Engineering Consultant Services, Inc.; ECS Southeast,
LLP f/k/a ECS Carolinas, LLP; Mead and Hunt, Inc.;
Stantec Consulting Services, Inc.; and T.Y. Lin
International,

Defendants,

Of which Stantec Consulting Services, Inc. is the

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

C. Mitchell Brown
Blake T. Williams

Statement of Issues on Appeal

1. Did the circuit court err by refusing to vacate the Arbitration Panel award granting summary judgment in favor of Stantec where the award was premature, directly conflicted with subsequent orders issued by the Panel and was otherwise arbitrary, and demonstrated the Panel's manifest disregard for the law?

Statement of the Case and Facts

This dispute arises out of the design and construction of part of the 85/385 Gateway Project in Greenville, South Carolina, which was a project involving construction of roads and large bridges. Flatiron-Zachry, a Joint Venture (“FZJV”) brought this action seeking recovery of nearly \$60 million dollars in damages caused directly by the designer Defendants’, including Respondent Stantec Consulting Services Inc.’s (“Stantec”), negligent and deficient performance of their engineering design work. (*See generally* Am. Compl.; R. 54.) The lead contractor tasked with assembling a design-build team was Defendant Civil Engineering Consultant Services (“CECS”). (*Id.* ¶¶ 9-13; R. 57-58.) Stantec was one of CECS’s subcontractors and did not have a direct contractual relationship with FZJV. (*See id.*)

In November of 2019, the parties jointly agreed to stay the circuit court proceedings and have the dispute compelled to arbitration. (Joint Mot. & Agreement to Arbitrate; R. 339.) The parties thereafter proceeded to arbitration. The genesis of the present appeal was the decisions of a panel of three arbitrators (the “Arbitration Panel” or “Panel”), who FZJV asserts made a series of conflicting orders that exceeded the scope of their authority, manifestly disregarded the law, and deprived FZJV of the opportunity to develop and present material evidence.

The timeline of events leading to this appeal is as follows:

9/14/2018 – FZJV files suit in the Court of Common Pleas for Greenville County against Respondent and the other above-captioned defendants.

11/18/2019 – All parties submit a joint motion to stay the case and arbitrate. (*See* Joint Motion & Agreement to Arbitrate; R. 339.) The parties agreed that the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) governed and that the American Arbitration Association (“AAA”) Construction Rules would apply.

11/19/2019 – The Circuit Court grants the joint motion.

1/11/2021 – Without making a prior written application or obtaining approval from the Arbitration Panel to file a dispositive motion as required by AAA

Construction Rule 34¹, and prior to any depositions being taken, Stantec moves for summary judgment.

- 2/9/2021 – The Arbitration Panel finds that Stantec’s motion for summary judgment was premature and could be brought again at the close of discovery and in conformance with the other provisions of the current Scheduling Order in the arbitration.
- 5/17/2021 – The Arbitration Panel issues its Amended Scheduling Order. (Am. Sch. Order; R. 295)
- 9/13/2021 – Stantec moves for summary judgment a second time, again without requesting leave to submit a dispositive motion or obtaining prior approval from the Arbitration Panel as set forth in Construction Rule 34. Discovery was still ongoing and no depositions had been taken.
- 11/5/2021 – The Arbitration Panel issues an Order granting Stantec’s motion for summary judgment on 5 of 6 claims (one of which FZJV had withdrawn), while denying summary judgment on the sixth. (*See* Arbitration Panel’s Nov. 5, 2021, Order; R. 481.)² At this time, discovery was still ongoing, with depositions of corporate representatives having just begun.³ Two of

¹ Available at: https://www.adr.org/sites/default/files/ConstructionRules_Web_0.pdf.

² The Arbitration Panel stated in its November 5, 2021, Order that summary judgment on FZJV’s two “MSE Wall claims” was proper because there was no dispute of material fact as to Stantec’s contractual obligations. FZJV’s operative Complaint contended that the Defendants provided an improper design recommendation “regarding the applicable factor for structural backfill requirements for the MSE walls and failing to provide any design guidance on shoring requirements for MSE Wall 32.” (Am. Compl. ¶ 25(g); R. 61.) The Panel found that Stantec was not retained by Defendant Civil Engineering Consultant Services (“CECS”) to provide input on the Mechanically Stabilized Earth Retaining Wall (“MSE” Wall) design. Thus, despite expert opinion evidence to the contrary supporting the existence of a disputed material fact, the panel held that “for item 4 [MSE Wall claims], it is undisputed that Stantec did not provide pre-award services.” (Arbitration Panel’s Nov. 5, 2021 Order; R. 481.) Yet, the Panel acknowledged later in the same Order that “*Stantec performed some pre-award services relating to the MSE wall.*” (*Id.*) The Panel did not explain whether it was granting summary judgment as to both of FZJV’s claims related to the MSE Walls in this internally contradictory order. The first MSE Wall claim arose out of Stantec’s failure to adequately account for the necessary shoring at MSE Wall 32 in its design efforts. The other arose out of Stantec’s participation in the general MSE wall reinforcement (or “strap length”) design that resulted in significant additional excavation and backfill once the design corrections were made.

³ FZJV expected that the following depositions would occur, at a minimum, prior to the Panel’s consideration of any dispositive motions: (1) completion of CECS’s 30(b)(6), (2) completion of

those claims are at issue in this Appeal – FZJV’s claims arising out of Stantec’s failure to satisfy the professional engineering standard of care regarding its design efforts on shoring for the MSE walls, and Stantec’s failure to satisfy the professional engineering standard of care regarding its design efforts on the necessary MSE wall reinforcement requirements.

11/24/2021 – FZJV submits a motion to clarify or reconsider to the Arbitration Panel.

12/8/2021 – The Arbitration Panel issues an order summarily affirming its grant of summary judgment and denying FZJV’s motion to clarify without explaining the internal contradiction of its prior Order. (*See* Arbitration Panel’s Dec. 8, 2021, Order on Motion to Clarify; R. 546.)

12/10/2021 – Stantec files another summary judgment motion on the remaining (sixth) claim.

1/19/2022 – For a second time, the Arbitration Panel denies Stantec’s motion on the sixth claim. (*See* Arbitration Panel’s Jan. 13, 2022, Order; R. 160.)⁴

2/9/2022 – FZJV timely files a motion to vacate under 9 U.S.C. § 12 of the FAA with the Court of Common Pleas. (FZJV’s Mot. to Vacate; R. 141.)

3/15/2022 – The Court of Common Pleas issues an Order denying the motion to vacate. (Court’s Mar. 15, 2022, Order; R. 8.)

3/18/2022 – FZJV submits a second motion to clarify or reconsider to the Arbitration Panel due to its inconsistent and contradictory and ambiguous rulings on summary judgment.⁵

FZJV’s 30(b)(6), (3) FZJV’s expert witness, (4) Stantec’s expert witness, (5) Stantec engineer Betty Watson, and (6) 30(b)(6) of ECS Carolinas, LLP. (FZJV’s Mot. to Vacate p.9; R. 149)

⁴ The remaining claim concerned design details relating to bridge barrier conduit and geomembrane at bridge abutments. In this Order, the Panel again denied summary judgment to Stantec, rejecting its argument that “its motion should be granted because it performed work that CECS requested and nothing more.” (Arbitration Panel’s Jan. 13, 2022, Order; R. 160.) The panel reasoned that this “does not address the factual issues of whether that work was performed or whether that work was performed with the proper standard of care.” (*Id.*) The panel found that, as a result, “these issues involve questions of material fact that are in dispute.” (*Id.*) The panel likewise rejected Stantec’s statute of limitations argument, citing an affidavit submitted by FZJV stating it did not discover that the geomembrane was not included in the final plans until September 2016, and thus there was a “genuine issue of material fact on when a reasonable design/builder should have discovered the claim related to the geomembrane in the bridge abutment.” (*Id.*)

⁵ Stantec submitted two motions based on an identical legal argument (that it cannot be held liable for design errors relating to any work not required of it in its subcontract with CECS), yet the Panel

3/24/2022 – The Arbitration Panel issues an Amended Order in which it reaffirmed its summary judgment rulings against FZJV made on November 25, 2021 and stated it was declining to further reconsider those rulings, yet which made substantive changes to its prior order on summary judgment, including granting summary judgment to Stantec on an additional basis not before stated. FZJV’s sixth claim remained viable. (*See* Arbitration Panel’s Mar. 24, 2022, Order on Second Motion to Clarify or Reconsider; R. 158.)⁶

FZJV timely filed a motion to vacate the March 24, 2022, Order with the Court of Common Pleas on June 22, 2022. (FZJV’s Mot. to Vacate; R. 141.) Stantec did not move to vacate any of the Arbitration Panel actions or Orders. In its motion to vacate, FZJV contended that the Court should vacate the summary judgment arbitration award as to the first five claims because the Panel refused to hear evidence material to the controversy, exceeded its power, and manifestly disregarded the law. Specifically, FZJV argued that the Arbitration Panel: (1) refused to hear material evidence by issuing an award before the parties conducted meaningful discovery; (2) disregarded the parties’ Agreement to Arbitrate, which contemplated full discovery; and (3) manifestly disregarded the law.

made two opposite and inconsistent applications of the law— *i.e.*, if material facts exist regarding performance of engineering services, then summary judgment is improper regardless of whether a party is performing a task which it was contracted to perform. And the Panel’s reasoning completely ignored the lack of any *contractual* cause of action against Stantec. FZJV’s claims against Stantec arose out of professional negligence and Stantec’s alleged failure to provide its services with the requisite standard of care. Simply put, a disputed issue of material fact was what work Stantec *actually* performed, not merely what work it contracted with CECS to perform. The Panel recognized this important distinction in its January 19, 2022, Order but failed to recognize it in its prior contradictory Orders.

⁶ Specifically, the Panel held that its November 5, 2021, Order should have omitted the MSE Wall claims from the issues which it stated were “undisputed,” yet it nevertheless affirmed summary judgment in FZJV’s favor on the MSE Wall claims. The Panel also confirmed, for the first time, that the initial order intended to grant summary judgment as to both of FZJV’s MSE Wall claims against Stantec.

The circuit court held a hearing on FZJV's motion on September 22, 2022, and issued an Order denying the motion without explanation on October 6, 2022. (*See* Sept. 22, 2022 Hr'g Tr.; Court's Oct. 6, 2022 Order; R. 98; 6.)

On October 17, 2022 FZJV timely filed a motion to reconsider the circuit court's denial of the motion to vacate. (FZJV's Mot. to Reconsider; R. 129.) The court denied this motion via Form 4 Order without explanation on June 21, 2023. (Court's June 21, 2023 Order; R. 3.) This appeal followed. (FZJV's Notice of Appeal; R. 346.)⁷

Standard of Review

FZJV acknowledges that courts generally play a limited role when reviewing the decisions of an arbitrator, and because the parties have contracted to have their disputes settled by an arbitrator rather than a judge, courts "are not authorized to reconsider the merits of an award even though the parties may allege that the award rests on errors of fact or on misinterpretation." *Constellium Rolled Prod. Ravenswood, LLC v. United Steel, Paper & Forestry, Rubber, Mfg., Energy, Allied Indus. & Serv. Workers Int'l Union AFL-CIO/CLC*, 18 F.4th 736, 739 (4th Cir. 2021). However, there *are* circumstances when court intervention is appropriate and necessary.

Pertinent here, under Section 10 of the Federal Arbitration Act, courts may vacate an arbitration award where:

- (3) the arbitrators were guilty of misconduct in refusing to postpone the hearing, upon sufficient cause shown, *or in refusing to hear evidence pertinent and material to the controversy*; or of any other misbehavior by which the rights of any party have been prejudiced; or
- (4) the arbitrators *exceeded their powers*, or so imperfectly executed them that a mutual, final, and definite award upon the subject matter submitted was not made.

⁷ On October 27, 2022, FZJV dismissed its claims against the other Defendants pursuant to a settlement.

9 U.S.C. § 10(a) (emphasis added).

In assessing whether an arbitrator's misbehavior or misconduct prejudiced the rights of the parties under § 10(a)(3), courts "ask whether the parties received a fundamentally fair hearing." *Move, Inc.*, 840 F.3d at 1158; *see also Oldcastle Precast, Inc. v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co.*, 838 F. App'x 649, 651 (2d Cir. 2021) ("Courts have interpreted section 10(a)(3) to mean that except where fundamental fairness is violated, arbitration determinations will not be opened up to evidentiary review.").

Under § 10(a)(4), Arbitrators exceed their "authority by failing to provide an award in the form required by an arbitration agreement." *Cat Charter, LLC v. Schurtenberger*, 646 F.3d 836, 843 (11th Cir. 2011). Hence, the arbitrators must not violate the arbitration agreement terms. Further, arbitrators exceed their authority "when the award is completely irrational or exhibits a manifest disregard of the law." *Kyocera Corp. v. Prudential-Bache Trade Servs., Inc.*, 341 F.3d 987, 994 (9th Cir. 2003) (en banc). Thus, a court may vacate an arbitration decision pursuant to § 10(a)(4) where the arbitrator "strays from interpretation and application of the agreement and effectively dispense[s] h[er] own brand of industrial justice." *Id.* (quoting *Major League Baseball Players Ass'n v. Garvey*, 532 U.S. 504, 509 (2001)).

In addition to the statutory grounds established by the FAA, South Carolina case law provides for an additional, non-statutory ground for vacatur of an arbitration decision where it reflects "manifest disregard or perverse misconstruction of the law." *See Weimer v. Jones*, 364 S.C. 78, 80, 610 S.E.2d 850, 852 (Ct. App. 2005). This "basis for vacating an arbitration award occurs when the arbitrator knew of a governing legal principle yet refused to apply it." *Gissel v. Hart*, 382 S.C. 235, 241–42, 676 S.E.2d 320, 323–24 (2009).

On appeal from an order denying a motion to vacate, the appellate courts review the lower court's "legal conclusions *de novo* and its factual findings for clear error." *Constellium*, 18 F.4th at 739.

Argument

This Court should vacate the arbitration decision for three independent reasons, each of which warrants vacatur: (1) the Arbitration Panel refused to hear evidence material to the controversy rendering the proceedings fundamentally unfair; (2) the Panel exceeded its power and the scope of its authority and violated the parties' Agreement to Arbitrate, also acting arbitrarily; and (3) the Panel manifestly disregarded and misconstrued applicable law. Specifically, this Court should reverse and vacate because the Arbitration Panel:

- Permitted Stantec to submit procedurally defective summary judgment motions in violation of the agreed-upon AAA Construction Arbitration Rules;
- Refused to hear evidence material to the controversy;
- Granted Stantec's procedurally defective motion (in violation of the parties' Agreement to Arbitrate since discovery was still ongoing);
- Manifestly disregarded the law in granting Stantec's motion;
- Issued conflicting and contradictory (and thus arbitrary) orders regarding FZJV's claims against Stantec; and
- Issued orders denying summary judgment motions submitted by other Defendants that conflicted with its order in Stantec's favor, thus again demonstrating the arbitrary nature of its Order favorable to Stantec.

I. The Arbitration Panel refused to hear evidence material to the controversy by issuing an award before the parties conducted meaningful discovery.

The Arbitration Panel refused to hear evidence material to the controversy and therefor vacatur is warranted under § 10(a)(3) of the FAA.

The FAA required the Panel to hear all evidence “pertinent and material” to the controversy. 9 U.S.C. § 10(a)(3). The Panel was similarly required by the rules governing the underlying arbitration to ensure a fair hearing, specifically when managing discovery. *See* AAA Construction Arbitration Rule 24(a) (“The arbitrator shall manage any necessary exchange of information among the parties with a view to achieving an efficient and economical resolution of the dispute, while at the same time promoting equality of treatment and safeguarding each party’s opportunity to fairly present its claims and defenses.”); *see also id.* at Rule 33(a) (“The arbitrator has the discretion to vary [the proceedings], provided that the parties are treated with equality and that each party has the right to be heard and is given a fair opportunity to present its case.”).

Where the parties’ agreement to arbitrate provides that the certain rules govern, such as the AAA Construction Rules applicable here, the arbitration proceeding must comport with those rules. *See Dean v. Heritage Healthcare of Ridgeway, LLC*, 408 S.C. 371, 384, 759 S.E.2d 727, 734 (2014); *see also, e.g., Hernandez v. MicroBilt Corp.*, No. CV2104238FLWLHG, 2022 WL 16569272, at *8 (D.N.J. Oct. 25, 2022), *aff’d*, 88 F.4th 215 (3d Cir. 2023) (“Defendant cannot bypass the AAA’s rules to which both parties have agreed to be bound.”); *Diemaco, a Div. of Devtek Corp. v. Colt’s Mfg. Co.*, 11 F. Supp. 2d 228, 232 (D. Conn. 1998) (“When parties agree to arbitrate before the AAA and incorporate the Commercial Arbitration Rules into their agreement, they are bound by those rules . . .”).

If an arbitrator does not provide for a full and fair hearing as the AAA rules require, then “courts owe no deference” to such an arbitrator. *Int’l Union, United Mine Workers of Am. v. Marrowbone Dev. Co.*, 232 F.3d 383, 388 (4th Cir. 2000) (citation omitted) (concluding arbitrator committed misconduct by failing to provide parties with full and fair hearing); *see also Hoteles Condado Beach v. Union De Tronquistas*, 763 F.2d 34, 38 (1st Cir. 1985) (holding that arbitrator’s

refusal to consider a trial transcript submitted by one of the parties denied them “adequate opportunity to present its evidence and arguments”); *Prudential Securities, Inc. v. Dalton*, 929 F. Supp. 1411, 1417 (N.D. Okla. 1996) (finding arbitrator guilty of misconduct in making a final decision without hearing “evidence pertinent and material to the controversy”).

In *International Union*, for example, the arbitrator told the parties to meet, gather information, negotiate further, and, if not resolved, present evidence and argument at an arbitration hearing. *See Int’l Union*, 232 F.3d at 390. The arbitrator then “issued his award without ever holding that hearing or affording the Union the opportunity to present the evidence it had been prepared to offer[.]” *Id.* The Fourth Circuit, in holding that the arbitrator had engaged in misconduct, noted that the arbitrator had made no findings that the Union’s evidence was “cumulative,” “irrelevant,” or “immaterial,” nor did the record show “that [the] evidence was, in fact, cumulative or anything less than highly material and relevant.” *Id.*

The facts here are analogous. The Panel denied Stantec’s first motion for summary judgment as premature based on the status of the proceedings and developing evidence, saying that summary judgment could not be pursued again until the close of discovery. This is analogous to the *International Union* arbitrator who instructed the parties to meet, gather information, and negotiate further before there could be a hearing. Yet, before the parties could move past the premature status of discovery that warranted denying Stantec’s first motion, and before the close of discovery, the Panel inexplicably contradicted itself and issued its award granting Stantec’s second motion for summary judgment. During the time between Stantec’s motions the parties completed significant written discovery; however, at the time of Stantec’s motion considerable discovery remained outstanding and was anticipated, including depositions of fact witnesses, expert witnesses, and corporate representatives. The claims were highly complex and technical,

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