THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas
Letitia H. Verdin, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2023-001178
Case No. 2018-CP-23-04740

Flatiron-Zachry, a Joint Venture,

Appellant,

v.

Civil Engineering Consulting Services, Inc. c/b/a Civil
Engineering Consultant Services, Inc.; ECS Southeast,
LLP f/k/a ECS Carolinas, LLP; Mead and Hunt, Inc.;
Stantec Consulting Services, Inc.; and T.Y. Lin
International,

Defendants,

Of which Stantec Consulting Services, Inc. is the

Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Brannon J. Arnold (SC State Bar No. 80061)
Ross D. Ginsberg (admitted *pro hac vice*)

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

ARGUMENT

I. The Court Lacks Jurisdiction to Consider This Untimely Appeal.

A. Applicable Standard

An appeal must be filed within thirty days of the judgment or order appealed from. Rule 203(b), SCACR. This Court lacks jurisdiction over late appeals and “has no authority or discretion to rescue the delinquent party by extending or ignoring the deadline for service of the notice.” *USAA Property & Casualty Ins. Co. v. Clegg*, 377 S.C. 643, 651, 661 S.E.2d 791, 795 (2008). In addition, the time for filing the notice of appeal was not stayed by Appellant’s successive filings.

An appeal may be barred due to untimely service of the notice of appeal when a party – instead of serving a notice of appeal – files a successive Rule 59(e) motion, where the trial judge’s ruling on the first Rule 59(e) motion does not result in a substantial alteration of the original judgment. An appeal may also be barred due to untimely service of the notice of appeal when a party – instead of serving a notice of appeal – recaptions a written JNOV/new trial motion, which has been ruled on, and resubmits it as a virtually identical written Rule 59(e) motion.

Elam v. South Carolina Dept. of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 20, 602 S.E.2d 772, 778 (2004).

B. Appellant’s Successive Filings Cannot Resurrect this Court’s Jurisdiction.

1. Appellant Has Repeatedly Recycled the Same Arguments.

Appellant’s two applications to vacate and its Amended Motion to Reconsider were recaptioned versions of each other. [R. 0124-28; R. 0324-38; R. 0141-53.] According to Appellant, “The legal basis for vacatur of the Panel’s March Award is nearly identical to that previously provided by [Appellant] for vacatur of the Panel’s November Award.” [R. 0145.] Having considered two sets of briefs and having heard argument twice, the Court concluded: “after reviewing the very fine briefs on both sides and hearing the arguments here today, I’m going to respectfully deny your motion.” [R. 0115.] Instead of appealing, Appellant made a third attempt raising the same arguments in its Rule 59(e) motion where it “incorporated by reference” the same

arguments it made in the Second Motion to Vacate. [R. 0127.] If not from March 15, 2022, when the Court denied the first Application to Vacate, timeliness should be measured from October 6, 2022, when the second Application to Vacate was denied. The July 20, 2023 Notice of Appeal was late.

2. The Second Application to Vacate Was Untimely.

Appellant's Second Application to Vacate was also late. In the Second Application to Vacate, Appellant requested that the Court "enter an Order vacating the Panel's November 5, 2021 and March 24, 2022 awards..." [R. 0153.] The November Award was older than three months and the so-called "March award" was, in fact, a ruling on a motion to reconsider. Motions to vacate must be filed within three months of an award, not the ruling on a motion to reconsider. 9 U.S.C. § 12 ("...within three months after the award..."); *Gonzalez v. Mayhill Behavioral Health, LLC*, No. 4:21-MC-00188, 2022 WL 1185889 (E.D. Tex. 2022) at * 3-4 (applying "plain meaning" rule to require filing of motions to vacate within three months of *award*, not from the denial of a motion to reconsider, and collecting cases explaining the reason for the rule); *Eatman's, Inc. v. Martin Engineering, Inc.*, 311 S.C. 282, 284, 428 S.E.2d 736,737 (Ct. App. 1993) (once the three month period has passed, attempt to vacate award cannot be made).

Appellant's representation that the March 24, 2022 order of the Panel materially altered the November 5, 2021 Award is also incorrect. *See* Section III.C, below.⁶

3. The Second Reconsideration Motion and Second Motion to Vacate are Nullities.

The Panel lacked power to entertain Reconsideration Motion 2 or to issue the March 24, 2022 order. Therefore, there should never have been a Second Application to Vacate. AAA Rule

⁶ After the March 24, 2022 Order, Appellant still had 19-days to appeal the Court's denial of the First Motion to Vacate, a fact acknowledged by Appellant in footnote 3 to Reconsideration Motion 2. [R. 0533.] Appellant still did not appeal.

51 afforded Appellant 20-days to move to correct clerical, typographical, technical or computational errors in the Award.⁷ The Panel could reconsider the merits only “if the award is vacated” and the Court directed a “rehearing by the arbitrators.” 9 U.S.C. § 10(b); *Sodexo Management, Inc. v. Detroit Public Schools*, 200 F. Supp. 3d 679, 696 (E.D. Mich. 2016) (“...arbitrator...is not empowered to redetermine the merits of any claim already decided”). The denial of the first Application to Vacate operated to confirm the Award and collateral estoppel then attached. *Hale v. Morgan Stanley*, 571 F. Supp. 3d 872, 886-87 (S.D. Ohio 2021). Accordingly, both Reconsideration Motion 2 and the second Application to Vacate are legal nullities.

4. Appellant Is Estopped from Denying the Finality of the November 5, 2021 Award.

In response to Stantec’s Motion to Dismiss the Appeal, Appellant contended that the November 5, 2021 Award was not a final award because the Geomembrane Claim was not yet resolved. Yet, under the FAA, partial awards that resolve an entire issue are final. *Crawford Group, Inc. v. Holekamp*, 2007 WL 844819 (E.D. Mo. 2007) at * 4 and cases cited. The parties understood and treated the November 5, 2021 Award as final with respect to the discrete issues fully resolved by Stantec’s Motions 1-4 and 6. Appellant represented to the Court that: “Plaintiff moves to lift the Stay for the purpose of filing this Application of Vacation, *which would be final as to these claims, if not lifted.*” [R. 0327.] (Emphasis added). Relying on this representation, the Court lifted the stay and entertained the Application to Vacate.

Issues not raised in proceedings below are not preserved for appeal. *Herron v. Century BMW*, 395 S.C. 461, 465-66, 719 S.E.2d 640, 642 (2011). Appellant did not argue in the Court of Common Pleas that the Award was not final. To the contrary, the Court lifted the stay based on

⁷ Stantec previously raised an objection to the Panel’s lack of authority to modify the award. [R. 0503-04; R. 0514.]

Appellant’s representation that the Award was final. Therefore, Appellant is judicially estopped from arguing that November 5, 2021 Award was not final. *Quinn v. Sharon Corp.*, 343 S.C. 411, 414, 540 S.E.2d 474, 475 (Ct. App. 2000) (judicial estoppel protects the integrity of the judicial process and the courts).⁸

II. Appellant Has Not Met the Burden for Vacating an Arbitration Award.

A. Standard of Review

A party seeking vacatur of an arbitration award has a high burden. Courts are necessarily deferential to arbitrators in service to arbitration’s promise of speed and efficiency. *Group III Management, Inc. v. Suncrete of Carolina, Inc.*, 425 S.C. 141, 150-52, 819 S.E.2d 781, 785-86 (Ct. App. 2018). In *Group III Management*, this Court held:

Generally speaking, ‘[a]n award within the scope of submission is conclusive on fact issues and interpretation of law.’” “The award is presumptively correct, and ‘[i]t is the general rule that the courts will refuse to review the merits of an arbitration award.’” “[C]ourts *defer to the arbitral panel both on the merits of the final decision and on procedural questions that ‘grow out of the dispute,’ even where those questions ‘bear on its final disposition.’*” “Otherwise, an arbitration award would signify ‘the commencement, not the end, of litigation.’” ... “[A]rbitrators do not act as junior varsity trial courts where subsequent appellate review is readily available to the losing party.”

Id. at 150 (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted).

A court’s belief that the arbitrators erred, even wildly, is not a ground for vacating an arbitration award. *Id.* at 150-51 (“...court may not overturn an arbitration award ‘just because it believes, however strongly, that the arbitrators misinterpreted the applicable law’”).

Nor is ambiguity a ground for vacatur. Requiring awards to be perfectly clear would chill arbitrators who attempt to explain the basis for their decisions. This Court explained:

⁸ If a motion to vacate filed before the resolution of the Geomembrane Claim is invalid, then both of Appellant’s Applications were properly denied because they were filed before September 12, 2022, when Appellant withdrew the Geomembrane Claim. [R. 0551.]

“Moreover, the arbitrators need not specify their reasoning or the basis of the award, ... so long as the factual inferences and legal conclusions supporting the award are ‘barely colorable.’” “If a ground for the arbitrator's decision can be inferred from the facts of the case, the award should be confirmed.” ... Because “arbitrators need not give *any* rationale for an arbitration award, requiring their opinions to be ‘free of ambiguity may lead arbitrators to play it safe by writing no supporting opinions.’” “Therefore, ‘as long as the arbitrator is even arguably construing or applying the contract and acting within the scope of his authority, that a court is convinced he committed serious error does not suffice to overturn his decision.’” ... On the contrary, the award ‘should be enforced, despite a court's disagreement with it on the merits, if there is a *barely colorable justification* for the outcome reached.’”

Id. at 151-52 (internal citations omitted).

Finally, to vacate an award for misconduct by refusing to hear evidence, the Court must find that “(1) the excluded evidence was so material to the arbitrator’s decision that it denied fundamental fairness to the challenger; and (2) by clear and convincing evidence ... the arbitrator had no reasonable basis for his [or her] decision.” *Hale v. Morgan Stanley*, 571 F. Supp. 3d at 879-80; *see also, Trident Technical College v. Lucas & Stubbs, Ltd.*, 286 S.C. 98, 109, 333 S.E.2d 781, 788 (1985) (refusal to hear evidence must rise to the level of misconduct). The standard requires Appellant to identify specific evidence presented to and excluded by the Panel. *e.spire Communications, Inc. v. CNS Communications, Inc.*, 39 Fed. App’x 905, 909-10 (4th Cir. 2002) (court cannot determine materiality when excluded evidence is not identified).

Appellant failed to supply the Court with the many briefs and/or the evidence submitted to and considered by the Panel. Accordingly, neither this Court nor the Court below were positioned to find that Appellant met the high burden for vacating the Award.

B. The Panel Did Not Engage in Misconduct.

1. The Panel Appropriately Decided the Predicate Legal Question.

The Panel found against Appellant on the predicate legal question of whether Stantec had a duty to perform pre-bid drainage design and pre-bid Wall 32 design. *Spence v. Wingate*, 395

S.C. 148, 160, 716 S.E.2d 920, 926 (2011) (existence of duty is an issue of law for the court). This ruling was not a product of alleged unfairness as Appellant urges.⁹

Rather than being treated unfairly, Appellant treated Stantec unfairly. Appellant alleged negligent drainage and wall design in its 2018 complaint. [R. 0091-92.] However, Appellant's expert appropriately assigned responsibility to CECS and its subconsultants, T.Y. Lin and ECS, not Stantec. [R. 0077.] Two years later, in November 2020, when Stantec asked Appellant to state with specificity each error or omission Appellant contended was made by Stantec, Appellant responded:

...CECS and Stantec negotiated and entered into a subconsultant agreement outlining Stantec's design responsibilities, and it is unclear whether Stantec, CECS, or both are responsible for any errors or omissions made in the work performed under that agreement. [R. 0290.]¹⁰

Whether Appellant was uninformed about Stantec's responsibilities or ignored them, Appellant should not have sued Stantec. South Carolina law does not countenance "shoot first, ask questions later" litigation. *Ex Parte Gregory*, 378 S.C. 430, 434 and 437-38, 663 S.E.2d 46, 49-50 (2008). Appellant could have sued CECS, which had contractual responsibility for the entire design, and soon after taken the deposition of CECS on the narrow topic of the services CECS expected Stantec to perform. Instead, Appellant sued Stantec and, for nearly three years, delayed taking discovery on the predicate question of Stantec's design scope. This unjustifiably embroiled Stantec in expensive and protracted litigation.

⁹ The Panel granted Stantec's motion on the post-award claim based on the admission of Appellant's expert that Appellant was not damaged. [R. 0426.]

¹⁰ Because the Court may wonder how Stantec knew which claims to defend, it is important to explain that, facing Stantec's January 2021 motion for summary judgment, Appellant asserted that Stantec was "involved" in the drainage and Wall 32 claims although the basis of Stantec's alleged liability was not articulated.

Finally, in August 2021, Appellant deposed CECS who confirmed that neither the drainage claims nor the Wall 32 claims arose from services that CECS assigned to Stantec. [R. 0282-83.] Because CECS confirmed that Stantec was not responsible for these services (consistent with Dr. O’Connell’s 2018 affidavit), the Panel decided the purely legal question of duty in Stantec’s favor. There was little else the Panel could do because “[w]here the parties [to a contract] have attached the same meaning to a promise or agreement or a term thereof, it is interpreted in accordance with that meaning.” Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 201.

2. The Panel Did Not Refuse to Hear Evidence.

The Panel explicitly stated in its orders that it considered all evidence presented to it. [R. 0310; R. 0315; R. 0158.] Appellant has not identified specific evidence that it presented to the Panel that the Panel refused to consider as required under 9 U.S.C. § 10. Appellant has not established misconduct.

Appellant cites cases in which an arbitrator refused to consider evidence specifically identified and presented by a party. *United Mine Workers of Am. v. Marrowbone Dev. Co.*, 232 F.3d 383, 388 (4th Cir. 2000) (arising from refusal to hear evidence actually presented by a party and refusal to allow party to submit briefs); *Hoteles Condado Beach, La Concha & Convention Ctr. v. Union De Tronquistas Loc. 901*, 763 F.2d 34, 39-40 (1st Cir. 1985)(arising from the effective exclusion of a witness who was prepared to provide specific testimony of wrongdoing and disregarding a transcript of the witness’ prior sworn testimony); *Attia v. Audionamix Inc.*, 2015 WL 5580501(S.D.N.Y. 2015) at * 6 et seq. (vacating award based on spoliation sanctions when arbitrator refused to consider an affidavit that “directly refuted Respondent’s spoliation claims”).

Unlike in the cited cases, Appellant has not identified any specific evidence that the Panel refused to hear, let alone pertinent and material evidence. Instead of identifying any evidence that

the Panel excluded, Appellant argues that a summary judgment motion cannot be considered before close of discovery, an argument that has no basis in the rules or the law.

3. Summary Judgment Prior to Close of Discovery Is Permissible.

Arbitrators are permitted to grant summary judgment before close of discovery. The Arbitration Agreement did not prohibit filing summary judgment motions before the close of discovery. [R. 0172-76.] In addition, the Amended Scheduling Order authorized the filing of dispositive motions on or before January 31, 2022. [R. 0296.]

Long-established rules permit summary judgment motions prior to the close of discovery. For example, Rule 56, SCRCP permits a defendant to file such a motion “at any time.” *See also*, e.g., *Dawkins v. Fields*, 354 S.C. 58, 71, 580 S.E.2d 433, 439-40 (2003) (summary judgment motion filed four months after the complaint was properly granted); *Pony Computer, Inc. v. Equus Computer Systems of Missouri, Inc.*, 162 F.3d 991, 996 (8th Cir. 1998) (summary judgment granted before close of discovery).

Appellant cites a series of cases that do not support its position. In addition to the cases discussed above, Appellant cites: *Prudential Sec., Inc. v. Dalton*, 929 F. Supp. 1411, 1413 (N.D. Okla. 1996)(vacatur for failing to accept allegations as true when dismissing action for failure to state a claim); *Cofinco, Inc. v. Bakrie & Bros., N.V.*, 395 F. Supp. 613, 615 (S.D.N.Y. 1975) (five person arbitral board exceeded its authority by ruling on a portion of the arbitration that had been severed and for which no evidence had been taken); *Turoff v. Itachi Cap.*, 527 P.3d 436, 438 (Colo. Ct. App. 2022)(vacating award after arbitrators instructed *pro se* litigant to consult counsel and then refused to postpone hearings to permit new counsel to take discovery and get up to speed). None of these cases prohibit summary judgment prior to the close of discovery.

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